**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 31 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2021-000569

The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Muanah A. Fortune, Jr. ....Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
SC Appellate Law Group, LLC.  
2725 Devin Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29205  
(803) 445-1333  
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

*Counsel for Appellant*

*Other Counsel:*  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3372

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court judge erred when she denied the request to have Fortune's family physically present inside the courtroom because it denied Fortune his right to a public trial?
- II. Whether the trial court judge erred when she failed to grant defense counsel's motion for a mistrial when prejudicial evidence was admitted to the jury without establishing proper chain?
- III. Whether the trial court judge erred when she allowed the charge of "hand of one is the hand of all" because the State's evidence to support the jury charge was insufficient?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Muanah A. Fortune was indicted for one count each of murder, attempted murder, burglary in the first degree, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and the ill-treatment of animals, indictments 2019-GS-18-0416, 0417, 0418, 0420, 0421. Fortune and co-defendant Polo K. Salazar were tried before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein and a jury between Tuesday, May 11, 2021, and Wednesday, May 19, 2021. Fortune was represented by Michelle R. Hubrich and Pierce L. Wehman. The State was represented by David L. Osborne and Chelsea A. Glover. A unanimous jury found Fortune guilty of all charges. Fortune was sentenced to forty (40) years for murder, thirty (30) years for attempted murder, forty (40) years for burglary in the first degree and five (5) years for the ill-treatment of animals. Each sentence was ordered to run concurrently. Additionally, Fortune was ordered to serve a five (5) year consecutive sentence for the possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime.

This appeal timely follows.

***Relevant facts***

Muanah A. Fortune was tried along with his co-defendant Polo Salazar for the murder of Joe Weaver, the attempted murder of Marcus Porter, burglary in the first degree, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and the ill-treatment of animals. The week-long trial beginning on Tuesday, May 11, 2021, was vigorously contested.

As discussed in significant detail below, the admissibility of critical pieces of prejudicial evidence was admitted to the jury and a motion for mistrial was not granted.

At trial, the only evidence connecting Fortune to the scene of the crime was as a passenger in a car with Polo Salazar, Elijah Green, and Devonte Major; as well as an inconsistent, inadmissible statement to police, which is discussed in greater detail *infra*. Tr. 452; 888-927.

Instead, the overwhelming evidence presented at trial firmly established that Fortune did not fire a weapon that night, did not kill a dog, did not shoot Joe Weaver or Marcus Porter, did not drive a getaway car. Tr. 928. Eyewitness testimony did not place Fortune inside the home of Porter and Swibaker. Tr. 656. Furthermore, neither Fortune's DNA nor his fingerprints were found inside the home, or on any of the weapons used to commit the crimes. Tr. 656, 729, 928. Likewise, Fortune's footprint did not match the shoeprint on the backdoor. Tr. 758. Yet, the trial court judge charged the jury with the "hand of one, is the hand of all." Tr. 1078.

During deliberations, the jury struggled with this instruction and requested a re-charge. Tr. 1096. After further deliberations, the jury having not reached a unanimous verdict was given an *Allen* charge by the trial court judge. Tr. 1104. Only after the *Allen* charge did the jury reach a verdict. Tr. 1107. Fortune was found guilty to all charges.

Impactfully, enclosed with their verdict of guilty on all charges was a note addressed to the court as follows:

Judge the jury, made a decision on this trial, some wish we did not have the law of hand of one is hand of all, because we know this decision will hurt the suspects and their families, but also know the victims' family are getting the justice their loved one deserves. Our hearts go out to all involved, so please take this into consideration when sentencing. And it is signed by the presiding juror and dated this date.

Tr. 1116-1117, lines 20-4.

A motion to set aside the verdict was denied and Fortune was subsequently sentenced to forty years. Tr. 1120, 1143.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The trial court erred when it denied defense counsel's request to have Fortune's family physically present inside the courtroom because it denied Fortune his right to a public trial.**

At a pretrial conference held on May 7, 2021 defense counsel requested that the defendants' families be allowed to sit in the courtroom. Tr. 175-76. The trial court denied the request and the case proceeded to trial on May 11, 2021. During opening statements, the State introduced the jury to, "Mr. Joe Weaver's family, Mr. Marcus Porter and Mr. David Swibaker" all of whom were sitting behind the jury. Tr. 197,

lines 15-17. Additionally, he informed the jury that “it is also Joe Weaver’s day to seek justice, and his family appreciates you being here.” Tr. 198, lines 1-2. Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel renewed their pre-trial request that the court allow Fortune’s family to be physically present inside the courtroom. Tr. 313-314. After hearing arguments, the court denied the motion. The court reasoned as follows:

THE COURT: So, here’s what we have done specifically for the benefit of many of the defendants’ family. We had a live feed that is being sent down to the jury assembly room, and that way we do not have to limit, in any regard, the numbers of folks from the defendants’ family. Tr. 314, lines 20-25.

THE COURT: Now, obviously there are other folks. Counsel for the case next week wanted to be present. But I certainly accommodated the one lawyer that wanted to be present, up here. Tr. 315, line 3-5.

THE COURT: But we certainly, the primary concern was to allow the defendant’s family the opportunity to hear the proceedings. We’ve got a camera on the witness stand so that they can hear the witness. Tr. 315, lines 6-9.

THE COURT: I’ve asked for any authority, there is no authority, for requiring that the defendants’ families be present in the courtroom. Tr. 315, lines 18-20.

THE COURT: I wish that we had sufficient space to accommodate these defendants’ family member being present. It’s just simply not practical. And, yes, there are statutory definitions that do differentiate between the family of defendants and the family of alleged victims, without a doubt, and so I am certainly mindful of that. Tr. 316, lines 2-8.

The COURT: It is simply the reality that, with COVID, we have to make accommodations. And I reached out to the fire marshal for Dorchester County so that we could put more folks in the courtroom. But I am satisfied that we have as many people in this room as we can accommodate appropriately and safely. So I am really sorry for that. Tr. 316, lines 11-16.

A defendant's right to a public trial is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI. The central aim of a criminal proceeding must be to try the accused fairly, and the public trial guarantee is one created for the benefit of the defendant. *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 46 (1984). The requirement of a public trial "ensures that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned." *Id.* The requirement of a public trial encourages the presence of interested spectators to "keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions..." *Id.*

The right to a public trial is not absolute and may give way in certain instances to other rights or interests such as a defendant's right to a fair trial, or the government's interest in inhibiting disclosure of sensitive information. *Id.* at 45.

However,

those instances are rare, and the presumption of openness may be overcome only by an overriding interest based on findings that closure is essential to preserve higher values and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest. The interest is to be articulated along with findings specific enough that a reviewing court can determine whether the closure order was properly entered.

*Id.* at 45 (citing *Presley v. Georgia*, 558 U.S. 209, 215 -16 (2010)).

The United States Supreme Court in *Waller* set out a four-part test to determine whether a closure complies with the Sixth Amendment and is a test the courts must apply before excluding the public from any stage of a criminal trial. A closure is appropriate when: 1) the party seeking to close the hearing must advance an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced; 2) the closure must be no broader than necessary to protect that interest; 3) the trial court must consider reasonable

alternatives to closing the proceeding; and 4) it must make findings adequate to support the closure. *Id.* (citing *Press-Enterprise Co., v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 511-12 (1984) (establishing a test for a courtroom closure case arising under the First Amendment)). Moreover, it is well-settled that a defendant whose right to a public trial has been violated need not show that he suffered any prejudice, and the doctrine of harmless error does not apply. See *Waller, supra*, 467 U.S. at 49, 104 S.Ct. at 2217.

In the instant case, the trial court's partial closure of the courtroom was not accomplished in conformity with *Waller*. As to prong one, it is undisputed that the trial court's overriding interest is protecting the public from the spread of COVID-19. The second and third prong of the test invite the court to craft a narrowly tailored closure and consider alternatives to the closures. A public health closure is likely no broader than necessary and the only reasonable alternative to protecting the overriding interest. However, with a partial closure alternative such as the case here, the trial court judge decided who was allowed to fill the allotted seats in her courtroom; but she did so at the expense of excluding others. Inexcusably, the trial court excluded every member of Fortune's family from the courtroom citing no reasonable reason for doing so.

Indeed, she rightfully acknowledged that with COVID-19 she was required to make accommodations safely. Tr. 316. However, in a proceeding for the benefit of the accused, the trial court judge argued that she had a statutory duty to fill the allotted seats from the victim's family and even made a seat available to counsel for the following week's trial citing no authority to do so. Tr. 315. The trial judge made no

effort to ensure that even a single member of Fortune’s family could be in the courtroom; or that the jury could see the family or know of their virtual presence. The trial court judge stated that her primary concern was to ensure the defendant’s family could view the feed in their room downstairs arguing that there exists “no authority for requiring that the defendants’ families be present in the courtroom.” Tr. 315, lines 18-20.

The trial court judge not only failed to comply with the *Waller* test, but she also overlooked several instructive cases on the issue. The Supreme Court of the United States has specifically noted a special concern for ensuring the attendance of family members of the accused:

In giving content to the constitutional and statutory commands that an accused be given a public trial, the state and federal courts have differed over what groups of spectators, if any, could properly be excluded from a criminal trial. [...] And without exception all courts have held that an accused is at the very least entitled to have his friends, relatives and counsel present, no matter with what offense he may be charged.

*In re Oliver*, 333 U.S. 257, 271-72 (1948).

In *United States v. Rivera*, 682 F.3d 1223 (2012), the court concluded that the exclusion of the defendant’s family members from a sentencing hearing “implicated important values served by the Sixth Amendment.” Other circuits agree that the “exclusion of a defendant’s family members and friends, even from part of a criminal trial, is not a step to be taken lightly.” *Guzman v. Scully*, 80 F.3d 772, 776 (1996); see also *State v. Beckstead*, 96 Utah 528, 88 P.2d 461 (it was error to exclude friends and relatives of the accused). Each of these cases are instructive on the issue that when a trial court is faced with the choice of who to exclude from the courtroom, priority

should be given to the defendant's family and loved ones. Anything less deprives the defendant of his right to a public trial guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.

In the instant case, the trial court judge simply failed to undertake what the United States Supreme Court demands. The trial court judge was required to balance a public safety crisis with Fortune's constitutional rights. She simply failed to do so when she excluded his entire family from the courtroom. Other choices could have and should have been made. Even though she allowed them to view the proceedings, it does not have the same effect as being inside the courtroom. The jury, witnesses, and other members of the public were unaware of their presence; and as a result, Fortune was deprived of his rights.

While Fortune is not required to demonstrate specific prejudice to obtain relief for a violation of his right to a public trial, the potential for prejudice to Fortune existed in this case. *Waller*, 467 U.S. at 49, 104 S.Ct. at 2217. During opening arguments, the Solicitor capitalized on an opportunity. Having such a large presence sitting behind them, he calculatingly introduced the jury to the grieving victim's family; and subsequently thanked the jury for seeking justice on their behalf. Tr. 197-198. Fortune was not afforded that same opportunity. In not allowing the family in the courtroom or at the very least apprising the jury and others of their significant presence downstairs on the video feed, the trial judge appears to not have considered the *Waller* factors or any potential prejudice to Fortune. Nonetheless, the remedy "must be appropriate to the violation." *Waller*, 467 U.S. at 50, 104 S.Ct. at 2217.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse Fortune's convictions and sentence remand for a new trial.

**II. The trial court erred when it failed to grant defense counsel's motion for a mistrial when prejudicial evidence was admitted to the jury without establishing proper chain.**

The evidence presented in this case, especially the contents of "container G" and Fortune's clothing the night of his arrest were highly contested. During the trial, the State presented several chain witnesses, however, the chain was filled with inconsistencies, discrepancies, and missing links. This was made abundantly clear when Detective Matthew Brooks with the Summerville Police Department testified.

On direct examination, Detective Brooks testified that Corporal Cramer turned over to him a blue jumpsuit<sup>1</sup>, a wallet, and ski mask. Tr. 714, line 16-17. Detective Brooks identified State's exhibit 10 as "the original packaging for the jumpsuit and the ski mask that were turned over by Officer Cramer." Tr. 717, lines 1-2. Detective Brooks further testified that he recognized State's Exhibit 10 because he personally packaged and transported the evidence. Tr. 717, lines 10-13. Based on this testimony, the State sought to admit State's Exhibit 10 into evidence. Tr. 719. Defense counsel promptly objected based on improper chain of custody and the fact that State's Exhibit 10 pertained to "container G" which had not been admitted or

---

<sup>1</sup> Throughout the duration of the trial, this jumpsuit is referred to a "navy" jumpsuit, "black" jumpsuit, "blue" jumpsuit, and jumpsuit interchangeably.

seen during the trial. Tr. 719. Over defense counsel's objection regarding improper chain, the trial court admitted State's Exhibit 10. Tr. 719.

Detective Brooks then testified that State's Exhibit 11 was the navy jumpsuit which contained a broken lighter and a knife allegedly belonging to the victim inside the pocket of the jumpsuit. Tr. 719. He testified that he properly sealed the jumpsuit, leaving the knife and lighter in their original state so as to not disrupt the evidence. Tr. 719-20. According to Detective Brooks, State's Exhibit 11 was the paper commonly used by SLED and was not the original packaging when Corporal Cramer first gave him the jumpsuit for processing. Tr. 720. In response, the State showed him Exhibit 302 which he identified as the original packaging for the jumpsuit and ski mask. Tr. 721. The State sought to admit State's Exhibit 11 and State's Ex. 302 into evidence. Tr. 722. Defense counsel objected citing improper chain, but the trial court admitted both items over the objection. Tr. 722.

Then, the State introduced State's Exhibits 123 through 155. State's Exhibits 143-150 were photographs of the individual items of clothing worn by Fortune on the night of his arrest. Tr. 739. Detective Brooks testified that he was the individual who packaged the clothing. Tr. 740. However, he testified that he was not the individual who took the clothing from Fortune and transported it back for processing. Tr. 740. Instead, "it was collected at the jail when they were transported and then brought back to the Summerville Police Department and placed in the evidence locker. And then I collected it there for packaging purposes." Tr. 740, lines 19-22.

Based solely on this testimony, the State sought to admit the photographs of Fortune's clothing. Tr. 741. Defense counsel objected based on improper chain. Tr. 741. The trial court admitted the evidence over defense counsel's objection. Tr. 741. Detective Brooks then testified that State's Exhibits 109, 110, 160, 162, 163 were additional items collected that night by someone other than Detective Brooks, including Fortune's shoes. Tr. 745. Yet again, over defense counsel's objection regarding improper chain, the court admitted the evidence. Tr. 745.

On cross examination, when questioned about Fortune's clothing, Detective Brooks testified that while he collected Fortune's clothing from the evidence locker, he did not recall the name of the patrol officer who collected the items from Fortune. Tr. 749, lines 9-16. Despite being a chain witness for Fortune's clothing, Detective Brooks testified that he had no idea how the clothing was handled, packaged, or transported back to the station. Tr. 749-50. This is evidenced in the following critical exchange:

Q: So someone other than you took the clothing from Mr. Fortune when he was arrested?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: Somehow packaged it up like this, because this is not your official packaging. Correct?

A: No, ma'am.

Q: And brought it to the police station, I guess?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Q: Do we know anything about how it was transported?

A: It was transported in the officer's vehicle.

Q: Ok. Do we know anything about how it was collected?

A: It was collected when they were changed out from their clothes that they were in to the jail's attire.

Q: And so you say, they. I'm assuming you mean all four defendants

A: Yes, Ma'am.

Q: Were they all in a room together?

A: That, I don't know. I wasn't present.

Q: what did they do with the clothes once they took them off of them? Did they put them in a pile?

A: Again, I wasn't present. I do not know.

Q: Okay. All you know is that it was brought to you in this packaging, and you don't know how, when or where it was collected?

A: Yes, ma'am.

Tr. 749-750, lines 1-16.

Not only did this testimony on cross examination highlight the missing links pertaining to Fortune's clothing, but Detective Brooks' testimony regarding the blue jumpsuit shifted drastically. When pressed on cross examination, Detective Brooks admitted that Wade Rollings formerly of the Summerville Police Department, who was fired for misconduct and tampering with evidence, assisted him on the scene. Tr. 761, 772. Even though he testified on direct examination that Corporal Cramer gave him the jumpsuit, on cross examination Detective Brooks testified that it was Wade Rollings that gave him the jumpsuit. Tr. 714, 717, 720, 772. Further, despite

testifying on direct examination that he packaged and transported the evidence to SLED, on cross examination Detective Brooks testified that Wade Rollings transported the jumpsuit and turned it over to SLED. Tr. 717, 719, 720, 772.

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