RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Dorchester County
The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MUANAH A. FORTUNE, JR.,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000569

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant has failed to demonstrate he was denied a public trial as a result of the virtual attendance by his family in a separate room and the virtual attendance limitations were a consequence of courtroom capacity restrictions stemming from Covid-19 safety protocols.

Appellant’s first argument suggests that Appellant possesses a constitutional right to a public trial and that the failure to permit Appellant’s family to be *physically* present in the courtroom was a violation of that right. Appellant provides no authority to demonstrate that the physical absence of his family—or even the total absence of his family—is a violation of a right to public trial. Moreover, the record makes clear that the need to have Appellant’s family attend the trial virtually in a separate room was entirely due to the social distancing and capacity limitations mandated in courtrooms as a result of Covid-19, and the constitutional guaranteed right for victims to be present. Moreover, Appellant cannot demonstrate that he was actually prejudiced as a result of his family watching virtually. Appellant has failed to present any colorable argument for relief.

First and foremost, the circumstances of in-person court attendance were dictated to the

circuit court by Chief Justice Beatty's Amended 2021-03-04-01 Order concerning the Operation of the Trial Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency, which was in effect at the time of Appellant's trial. Judge Goodstein's lengthy discussion of the matter in both the pretrial hearing and during trial demonstrate that she took every effort to be as accommodating to Appellant's family as possible, but noted that the restrictions upon the courtroom capacity made it impossible to have Appellant's family present. (R. p. 492-495; May 7, pretrial R. p. 174-176). Judge Goodstein went to extraordinary lengths to accommodate Appellant and his family by ensuring that his family could view the proceedings and that Appellant could view his family for comfort during the trial. (R. p. 494, lines 6-17).

The *Waller* standard relied upon by Appellant is both satisfied and ultimately irrelevant. First, *Waller* does not contemplate the prevented attendance of a defendant's family members as even constituting a "non-public" trial, and as the record demonstrates, no authority to that issue was provided to the court. Moreover, the general purpose of a public trial is to ensure a just prosecution, not abide the comfort of the defendant. As set forth in *Waller*, "[t]he requirement of a public trial is for the benefit of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions...." ' ' *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 46, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 2215, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984)(Citing *Ibid.* (quoting *In re Oliver*, 333 U.S. 257, 270, n. 25, 68 S.Ct. 499, 506, n. 25, 92 L.Ed. 682 (1948), in turn quoting T Cooley, *Constitutional Limitations* 647 (8th ed. 1927))).

Next, *Waller* holds that the discretion and decision making rest with the trial court in choosing when and to what extent a closed proceeding should be utilized. Chief Justice Beatty's Order explicitly demonstrates that discretion in this matter was extremely limited. This was

especially so given the trial court's need to heed the explicit language of Section 24(3) of Article I of the South Carolina Constitution which guarantees a right to victim's family members to attend a criminal trial, juxtaposed by the lack of authority offered by defense counsel. Fourth, *Waller* was decided before technology existed that permits virtual attendance of a trial. As such, it is arguably a failed point to even argue that Appellant endured a "non-public" trial; *Waller* is ultimately rendered irrelevant in this case. Fifth, to the extent that *Waller* is applicable, it also instructs that any remedy for an improperly closed trial should be commensurate with the violation that took place. *Id.* at 50. While Respondent argues that there is no violation to consider, even if this circumstance constituted a violation, a new trial is an obscenely overreaching form of relief for what is at best a minimal and unavoidable concern that lacks evidence of prejudice.

There is no legal, factual, or practical argument to suggest a new trial should be ordered because of the Covid restrictions placed upon the court in conducting Appellant's trial. Appellant's first issue is entirely without merit.

II. Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial is not preserved for appellate review, and alternatively is lacking merit to demonstrate a basis for reversal.

Appellant argues that various State's exhibits were lacking a complete chain of custody and that consequently the trial court's failure to grant the motion for mistrial for their admission was in error. There are a number of fatal flaws to Appellant's arguments.

The argument is not preserved for appellate review as defense counsel failed to actually obtain a ruling on the motion. Nevertheless, the majority of the identified items are non-fungible evidence that under the law does not require a complete chain of custody to establish that the item is what it purports to be, and the alleged gaps in the chain of custody are simply potential witnesses who did not testify, as opposed to unaccounted for handling of the evidence in question. Lastly,

the State concedes that a gap in the chain of custody exists as to Appellant's clothing, which was later identified as the source for GSR testing results. However, the sheer volume of both direct and circumstantial evidence demonstrating Appellant's guilt in this case would render any argument for prejudice severely deficient. This matter cannot be reached on the merits. But even so, the totality of the record demonstrates that there is no meritorious basis to overturn the convictions or sentences of Appellant in this case.

The record shows that following the arguments regarding Appellant's motion for mistrial, the court took the matter under advisement over the lunch break. However, upon return, the parties engaged in a discussion regarding the potential DNA evidence linking Appellant to the recovered orange and black glove. The parties proceeded to elicit additional in-camera testimony on that topic and nowhere does the record indicate that the court or the parties ever returned to the topic of the mistrial motion. (R. p. 992-993; p. 1005, lines 1-4). When trial testimony continued, defense counsel continued their various chain of custody objections, but no ruling was provided by the court. At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, motions for directed verdict were made and pretrial motions and objections were renewed. However, at no time was there a renewed motion for mistrial or an effort to have a ruling on the motion placed on the record. (R. p. 1174-1176; p. 1187; p. 1288-1291; p. 1300).

The law is clear and voluminous that in order to preserve an issue for appeal it must be raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004); *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate

review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”). There is no ruling on the motion for mistrial and consequently the matter is not preserved.

Notwithstanding the lack of preservation, and in the alternative to that argument, there are numerous substantive arguments demonstrating the lack of merit for Appellant’s claim. Appellant itemizes the various exhibits of concern to include: State’s exhibits 10 (orange ski mask), 11 (jumpsuit), 123-155 (photographs of defendants’ clothing), 109 (knit cap and orange glove), 110 (camo glove), 160 (Green’s shoes), 162 (Fortune’s shoes), 163 (Salazar’s shoes), 302 (packaging for jumpsuit and ski mask), and those broadly identified as “Fortune’s clothing” and “Container G”. As an initial matter, the only forensic evidence admitted at trial that inculpates Appellant is the gunshot residue reports on Appellant’s clothing (discussed via State’s Exhibits 203 – photograph of Appellant’s hooded sweatshirt – and by extension admission of State’s Exhibit 195, the actual sweatshirt). (R. p. 634-635; p. 795; p. 1035-1036; 1039). The remaining objections, for purposes of evidence against Appellant, are non-fungible evidence and do not carry a strict chain-of-custody requirement for admission, so long as they are shown to be what they purport to be.¹⁰ *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011) (“The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.”).

While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable—the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required: If the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition.

¹⁰ In the case of photographs, there is no need for chain of custody testimony.

State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741–42 (2005) (citing *State v. Glenn*, 328 S.C. 300, 305–306, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct.App.1997)). Physical objects such as clothing are non-fungible evidence. See *State v. Glenn*, 328 S.C. 300, 305–306, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct.App.1997) (identifying a woman’s purse as non-fungible evidence).

Indeed, the arguments raised at trial do not even attempt to argue that the evidence in question is not in fact Appellant’s clothing, they only wished to raise suspicion as to the potential for tampering.¹¹ As they pertain to Appellant, the jumpsuit, the ski mask, the knit cap, the orange and black glove, and the camo glove, and the various shoes of the defendants are all non-fungible evidence because they are not easily alterable or replaceable, and have no forensic purpose. Given the record, there is no argument that any of these items are not the physical items they purport to be and a challenge to their admission by Appellant is without merit.

Appellant’s American Eagle hooded sweatshirt (State’s exhibit 195), however, was tested for gunshot residue. It was then articulated to the jury that the sweatshirt contained gunshot residue particles which would be indicative of a person being near a firearm at the time it was fired. Given the record testimony offered, the State failed to identify the officer who collected this sweatshirt from Appellant at the jail cell when Appellant changed into separate clothing, and Detective Brooks was unable to articulate the manner in which this item was handled prior to receiving it from the evidence locker. Such would constitute fungible evidence absent a link in the chain of

¹¹ It should be noted that the evidence offered by Appellant to suggest the possibility of tampering by Officer Rollings is not a full characterization of the record evidence. Detective Brooks testified repeatedly that he was not certain of the nature of the charges against Officer Rollings that led to his termination, but “believed” it was possibly related to tampering. However, the confident testimony of Detective Davis made clear that Officer Rollings was accused of and terminated for theft, and his conduct had nothing to do with evidence tampering. (R. p. 940; p. 951; p. 1091-1092).

custody, and it was in error to admit the sweatshirt (or in the alternative permit the fungible nature of the GSR testing related to the sweatshirt). However, the error was harmless as it would fall far short of supporting a motion for mistrial, and the Court's decision does not rise to an abuse of discretion for lack of prejudicial effect.

The harmless nature of this evidence is based soundly in the fact that it is cumulative to the evidence against Appellant. Appellant confessed to police that he accompanied the other three assailants, was in the home at the time of the shootings, was armed with a 9 millimeter pistol, and played a role in the crime by initially investigating other rooms of the house while the three other assailants order occupants to the floor. Appellant confirmed that he was at the scene of the crime, therefore it is cumulative to tell the jury that Appellant's cloths are indicative of having been near a discharged firearm (which is all GSR evidence can accomplish). In light of the confession, and the other substantial amount of circumstantial evidence presented in the case, the GSR testimony regarding the sweatshirt was of no consequence, would not have supported a mistrial, and does not satisfy the resulting prejudice standard for reversible error.

Lastly, much of Appellant's arguments regarding chain of custody are simply not reasonable reflections of the record evidence. "Container G" is not evidence, it was merely the sealed box that was used to carry multiple items that were separately packaged and sealed for delivery to SLED. As witness Jamie Hall articulated about containers: "it's just a box". (R. p. 800). For exhibits 10 and 11, the chain of custody demonstrates that they were recovered by Jacob Cramer (R. p. 637), packaged separately and placed into a box (Container G) by Detective Brooks (R. p. 874; p. 892; p. 896-901), transported to SLED by Officer Wade Rollings, received on a "said to contain" basis up front by SLED without evidence of tampering (R. p. 742; p. 748-749), retrieved in properly sealed packaging, numbered, and labeled by SLED forensic serologist Rachel

Nyguyen (R. p. 966-980), and then tested by Ryan DeWane (R. p. 1019-1021). The chain is likewise set for State's 109 and 110 through Wade Rollings (R. p. 984), Jackie Davis (R. p. 747); Rachel Nyguyen (R. p. 977), and Ryan DeWane (R. p. 1022).

Although Hatcher asserts our cases hold all individuals must be identified without exception, this appears to be an extrapolation of the general observation that where all individuals in the chain are, in fact, identified and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, it is not an abuse of discretion for the trial judge to admit the evidence in the absence of proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive. See, e.g., *Sweet*, 374 S.C. at 6, 647 S.E.2d at 205-06; *Taylor*, 360 S.C. at 25, 598 S.E.2d at 738. In a case involving the chain of custody of a blood sample in a paternity case, we reiterated the standard set forth in *Benton v. Pellum* that the chain of custody must be established as far as practicable, and we specifically stated that "we have never held the chain of custody rule requires every person associated with the procedure be available to testify or identified personally, depending on the facts of the case.

...
Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. *United States v. De Larosa*, 450 F.2d 1057, 1068 (3d Cir.1971). "The trial judge's exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: '... the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.' " *Id.* (citation omitted). "If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence." *Gallego v. United States*, 276 F.2d 914, 917 (9th Cir.1960).

State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 93, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753-55 (2011). The absence of testimony from Wade Rollings or Chad Smith does not impede the admissibility of the evidence in this matter. Had any of these items demonstrated evidence of tampering packaging upon transfer to SLED they would not have been accepted without notation. No such testimony was offered.

In conclusion, the issue cannot be appropriately reached on appeal, and though the GSR testing for Appellant's clothes would constitute an error in the absence of testimony from the

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